
 Document:- 
 A/CN.4/SR.70 
 Summary record of the 70th meeting 

 Topic: 
 Arbitral Procedure 

 Extract from the Yearbook of the International Law Commission:- 
 1950 , vol. I 

 Downloaded from the web site of the International Law Commission  
 (http://www.un.org/law/ilc/index.htm) 

 Copyright © United Nations 



70th meeting — 18 July 1950 239

mote the progress of law. As for the protection of
humanity's major interests—that, he thought, could not
be ensured by international codification. The Commis-
sion was dealing with the protection of mariner sources
and particularly with the conservation of fish. In his
view, such protection was a matter to be dealt with
under the administrative law of the various countries
concerned, and the Commission had no power to carry
out codification work in that field. He did not dispute
the need for protecting certain of humanity's interests,
but if the Commission tried to ensure such protection,
its reports and draft codes would be encumbered with
a plethora of detailed provisions, with the sole result
that they would become unacceptable for governments
precisely because of the accumulation of rules they
contained.
136 a. The Commission was at that moment discussing
the proclamations of President Truman and the Govern-
ment of Chile. Could it accept President Truman's sug-
gestions ? Was it prepared to agree to the limit of 200
nautical miles claimed by Chile for its protection zone ?
The Commission, he thought, could not accept such
rules as standards of international law for the protec-
tion of particular interests.
137. Mr. HSU reminded Mr. Spiropoulos of the terms
of article 23 of the Commission's Statute. He asked
why that article had been included if the purpose had
not been to enable the Commission to fill in gaps in
existing international law, to develop international law
and to see whether and to what extent such develop-
ment was acceptable. Article 23 had been given its
present wording precisely because the Commission had
a task of a very varied nature. It even enjoyed the right
to recommend the General Assembly to convoke a con-
ference to conclude a convention based on texts drawn
up by the Commission. He therefore did not share the
fears of Mr. Spiropoulos. There was no danger in the
Commission's wishing to take action in another field.
The Commission's task was to examine the subject and
try to reach the best possible results.
138. Mr. SANDSTRÔM agreed with Mr. Spiropou-
los' view that a particular code should not be a con-
glomeration of miscellaneous ingredients and particu-
larly of administrative details. In the present instance,
it was not the Commission's task to lay down protective
measures, which were a matter for administrative deci-
sion, but to decide whether there was a right to adopt
such measures and how far that right extended.
139. Mr. KERNO (Assistant Secretary-General)
pointed out that, in pursuing its work of codification,
the Commission should make a distinction between
(1) zones for the protection of marine resources, and
(2) zones of fiscal, customs and sanitary control. A
large number of countries had found themselves in-
sufficiently protected by territorial waters in fiscal, sta-
tute customs and sanitary matters and there was there-
fore " extensive State practice " in the matter of the con-
tiguous zone.
139 a. Thus, in adopting Mr. Hudson's proposal, the
Commission had carried out a task of codification pro-
per. In the case of fish protection, the situation was

different, and the Commission was faced instead with
a question of progressive development. The Rapporteur
could therefore examine the question and make sug-
gestions the following year. One point to be established
was whether littoral States should be given a kind of
" trustee " role which they would perform in the general
interest. It should be added that, in principle, the need
for the protection of marine resources was felt every-
where, even outside a " contiguous " zone.
140. The CHAIRMAN shared Mr. Spiropoulos' view
that the Commission should not go into too much detail.
But in the present instance the questions before them
were far from matters of detail. The Commission was
enquiring into the extent of the competence of States
in the matter of fishery control. The Commission was
not exceeding its functions in seeking to establish and
delimit the right of control which countries could exer-
cise in the matter of fish protection and conservation.
That was a point of prime importance on which it
should define its attitude.
141. Mr. FRANÇOIS thought that the discussion they
had just had would provide him with sufficient data
from which to draw up his report for the following year.
142. The CHAIRMAN concluded by saying that at
its next session the Commission would attempt, on the
basis of Mr. François' further report, to discover a
formula defining the rules concerning the competence
of littoral States in the matter of fish protection and
conservation in the waters of the contiguous zone and
the high seas, on the understanding that provision would
have to be made for a limit within which such right of
protection could be exercised.

The CHAIRMAN declared the general discussion on
Mr. Francois's report closed, and agreed that the Com-
mission should take up consideration of his report at
the next meeting.

The meeting rose at 5.55 p.m.

70th MEETING
Tuesday, 18 July 1950, at 10 a.m.

CONTENTS Page
Arbitral Procedure: report by Mr. Scelle (item 6 of the

agenda) (A/CN.4/18) . . . . . . . . . . . 240
General comments . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 4 0

Paragraph I of the proposed draft text . . . . 240
Paragraph II of the proposed draft text . . . 246

Chairman: Mr. A. E. F. SANDSTROM.
Rapporteur: Mr. Ricardo J. ALFARO.

Present:
Members: Mr. Gilberto AMADO, Mr. James L.

BRIERLY, Mr. Roberto CÓRDOVA, Mr. J. P. A. FRANÇOIS,
Mr. Shuhsi Hsu, Mr. Manley O. HUDSON, Mr. Fans el-



240 70th meeting — 18 July 1950

KHOURY, Mr. Georges SCELLE, Mr. Jean SPIROPOULOS,
Mr. Jesús María YEPES.

Secretariat: Mr. Ivan KERNO (Assistant Secretary-
General in charge of the Legal Department); Mr. Yuen-
li LUNG (Director of the Division for the Development
and Codification of International Law, and Secretary
to the Commission).

Arbitral Procedure: report by Mr. Scelle (item 6 of the
agenda) (A/CN.4/18)
The CHAIRMAN called upon the special rapporteur

to submit his report.
GENERAL COMMENTS

1. Mr. SCELLE, commenting on his report, explained
that he had confined his investigations to arbitration
between States, or inter-governmental arbitration, in
other words, arbitration in the sense of Article 37 of
The Hague Convention of 1907 on the pacific settle-
ment of international disputes, which had for its object
"the settlement of disputes between States by Judges
of their own choice and on the basis of respect for law ".
In the latter connexion he had been obliged to abandon
the purely legal conception in order not to eliminate
the amiable compositeur. Judgment ex aequo et bono
was included in the definition under Article 37 because
the arbitrator then passed judgment by analogy and on
the basis of respect for law. On the other hand, the
amiable compositeur often acted contrary to law. But
arbitration and friendly settlement were traditionally
taken together and he had followed that principle in
his report.
1 a. His task was facilitated by the fact that the
ground had already been largely covered. Codification
in this field had begun as long ago as 1899 and 1907.
The main difficulty was to define custom, since it
varied. The General Assembly of the United Nations,
at its 1949 session, had renewed and revised the General
Act of Arbitration, which provided a basis for codifi-
cation. He had kept as closely as possible to previous
works and borrowed a wide variety of procedures al-
ready adopted.
2. Mr. HUDSON said he regarded the General Act of
Arbitration of 1928 as the most important, adding that
it had been ratified by a number of States, whereas the
revised General Act had only been ratified by one State.
3. Mr. SCELLE, referring to innovations, said that
arbitration as conceived in earlier attempts at codifi-
cation left almost complete freedom to the parties. While
a solution was offered, none was imposed except where
an agreed undertaking existed. It might be observed
that the " effectiveness " of arbitration procedure was
always uncertain, since there were always plenty of
loopholes. States apparently regretted having accepted
arbitration and sought to evade their obligations. The
report was designed to find methods of forcing Govern-
ments to observe the obligation to resort to arbitration
and to implement arbitral awards. A prominent position
was given in many texts concerning arbitration to the
intervention of politicians and to political objectives.

Arbitration should be " depoliticalized " and " juris-
dictionalized ". Normally, when a court of arbitration
was set up, politicians were appointed to serve on it.
In a recent case the Secretary-General of the United
Nations had been called upon. He was opposed to such
procedure, and thought the proper course would be to
appeal to the President of the International Court of
Justice.
3 a. He had thought it necessary to submit directly a
number of texts the central idea of which might be
adopted by the Commission. This preliminary draft was
subdivided into 16 paragraphs, each of which dealt with
a particular point.
4. Mr. HUDSON agreed with the method of work
outlined by the Rapporteur.

Paragraph I of the proposed draft text
5. Mr. SCELLE said that the acceptance of a corn-
promissory undertaking, on whatever grounds, created
a new legal situation. Arbitration was founded on the
undertaking by States to settle an existing dispute or
any future dispute in such a way as to ensure that no
disagreement on a specific subject remained between
them. Such an undertaking laid an absolute obligation
on States in international jurisprudence. It was not a
contractual obligation, but a legal principle which they
should not be able to evade. It was a new rule in law
which was legally valid. Such undertakings might be
extremely varied in origin. There might be a special or
concrete undertaking, or an abstract undertaking on a
series of questions. They might be embodied in general
or special treaties; or again, they might be based on an
exchange of letters, or even be purely verbal. But of
all methods the solemn instrument was the best.
5 a. The compromissory clause was designed to re-
move a cause of friction in the legal relations between
States by introducing a judge to propound the law and
to make a compulsory award. Two difficulties had to be
faced in examining this problem. Firstly, there was the
question of the designation or the " arbitrability " of the
dispute. It had to be ascertained whether a dispute was
covered by the undertaking given by both States to
resort to arbitration, and the undertaking concerned
might be either abstract or concrete. The nature of the
dispute might itself be in dispute. Then someone must
arbitrate between the States and decide whether the
dispute was covered by the treaty. In that respect the
field was not clear, since the problem had already been
raised in the treaties of arbitration concluded by the
United States in 1911 and 1913. That was a point
which his report had omitted to deal with. The question
had been studied by two United States Secretaries of
State, Messrs. Bryan and Knox, who had suggested the
use in such cases of commissions of inquiry responsible
for examining the nature of the dispute and deciding
whether there was an obligation to resort to arbitration,
in other words, to decide a question of fact and inter-
pretation. But that was somewhat outside the scope of
an ordinary commission of inquiry, since it entailed
actual pre-arbitration or the settlement of a legal ques-
tion by the commission of inquiry concerned. He would



70th meeting — 18 July 1950 241

prefer to entrust such a task to a legal rather than a
political organ. That conception had not yet emerged
when the treaties of 1911 and 1913 were concluded and
Messrs. Bryan and Knox put their idea into practice.
He would like to go a little further and say that the
question should be settled by a judge and that that was
an absolute obligation. In 1911 they had not dared to
go as far as that. A commission of six members had
been set up and its decision, to have binding force, had
to be voted by five members. If the same verdict was
returned by five members, including four nationals,
there was obviously no doubt about the question. But
he thought the matter should be referred to the Inter-
national Court of Justice for a decision binding on the
parties. That could be done by means of summary pro-
cedure and direct application. He suggested the con-
clusion, of a convention under which States would under-
take to submit such questions to the International Court
of Justice by direct application. Since the more diligent
party would be the one to petition the Court, one party
might compel the other to submit the quarrel as to the
arbitrability of the dispute to the Court.
5 b. For the sake of preserving the essence of the
arbitration procedure—namely, its superior flexibility
as compared with jurisdictional procedure—he would
agree that the method of settling this preliminary ques-
tion might be left to the parties. This he had stated in
the interpolation at the end of the second sub-para-
graph of paragraph I of the proposed preliminary draft
text, on page 93 of his report: " (except where the
parties to the dispute have expressly agreed on a dif-
ferent procedure for deciding this preliminary ques-
tion) ". But it would be more in accordance with the
spirit of arbitration to state that the International Court
of Justice already had coercive competence. The pre-
liminary draft text on page 93 contained the ideas he
had just outlined: " the compromissory clause or under-
taking to have recourse to arbitration may apply to
questions which may arise eventually or to questions
already existing ". Thereafter he had merely reproduced
the text of Article 39 of the 1907 Convention: " What-
ever the instrument or agreement on which it is based,
the clause is strictly obligatory and must be implemented
in good faith ". That point must be stressed. " In the
event of dispute as to whether this obligation exists, the
matter shall be referred to the International Court of
Justice by a direct application submitted by the more
diligent party, and the International Court of Justice
shall pronounce final and binding judgment on the ar-
bitrability of the dispute in a Chamber of Summary
Procedure and in application, in particular, of Articles
29 and 41 of its Statute (except where the parties to the
dispute have expressly agreed on a different procedure
for deciding this preliminary question) ". As could be
seen, the text might be subdivided.
6. Mr. HUDSON said he had examined the first para-
graph of the preliminary draft text and was somewhat
disconcerted at the juxtaposition of the compromissory
clause and the undertaking to have recourse to arbi-
tration. The compromissory clause was the undertaking
to resort to arbitration in a special case and did not, he
thought, appear in treaties of arbitration. In his view,

the true distinction was that between provisions con-
cerning disputes in general and those concerning spe-
cific disputes.
6 a. He recalled the difficulties which had arisen in
connexion with declarations made under article 36,
paragraph 2, of the Statute of the Court, because cer-
tain declarations referred only to future disputes, while
others referred to dispute which had arisen after a cer-
tain date. It was frequently difficult to determine the
exact date when a particular dispute had arisen.
6 b. The second sentence of the first sub-paragraph of
paragraph I had his full support. With regard to the
second sub-paragraph, he asked whether the introduc-
tory words " In the event of disputes as to whether this
obligation exists ", accurately represented the Rappor-
teur's views. The English text of the footnote to para-
graph 15 of the report—the sense of which, in his view,
differed from that of the French text—ran:

" Article III... It is further agreed, however, that
in cases in which the parties disagree as to whether
or not a difference is subject to arbitration under
Article I of this Treaty, that question shall be sub-
mitted to the joint high commission of inquiry; and
if all or all but one of the members of the commission
agree and report that such difference is within the
scope of Article I, it shall be referred to arbitration
in accordance with the provisions of this Treaty ".
He thought that was a more concise rendering of

what the Rapporteur wished to say. The question was
not whether the obligation existed or not, but whether
it applied to a particular dispute. He thought the text
should be reworded along the lines of Article III.
6 c. With regard to the terms used, he considered that
" questions " should be replaced by " disputes " in the
English text. The word " direct " before " application "
was unnecessary and the phrase " the more diligent
party " might be replaced by " one of the parties ".
Further, there was no need to state that the judgment
would be " final and binding " since every decision of
the Court was final. So far as " arbitrability " was con-
cerned, he thought the term rather vague. The question
was whether the dispute belonged to the category of
disputes to which the treaty of arbitration applied.
6 d. In his view the reference to articles 29 and 41 of
the Statute of the International Court of Justice was
open to question. Article 29 merely provided for the
creation of a Chamber of Summary Procedure which
had existed since 1922. Article 41 dealt with measures
of conservation and he failed to see its application to
the question under discussion. Its actual words were:
" The Court shall have the power to indicate, if it con-
siders that circumstances so require, any provisional
measures which ought to be taken to preserve the res-
pective rights of either party ". That was not the
situation which the report envisaged here. The Rappor-
teur might perhaps be prepared to consider the deletion
of the phrase: " and in application, in particular, of
Articles 29 and 41 of its Statute ". In conclusion, he
warmly welcomed the principle behind the last sub-
paragraph.
7. Mr. LIANG (Secretary to the Commission) refer-



242 70th meeting — 18 July 1950

ring to certain inaccuracies in the English text of the
report, said that the translation had been done very
hurriedly because the report had been received rather
late. As an example, the phrase " questions which may
arise eventually ", on page 14 of the mimeographed
English text, was an incorrect rendering of the cor-
responding French phrase " contestations éventuelles "
and should be replaced by " questions which may pos-
sible arise ". Similarly, the rendering of " question
préjudicielle " by " pre-judicial question " might give
rise to misunderstandings.
8. Mr. SCELLE fully agreed with Mr. Hudson except
with regard to his observation on articles 29 and 41 of
the Statute of the International Court of Justice, and
there he thought he differed from Mr. Hudson mainly
in the matter of terminology. He had borrowed the
rather special terms of procedural jargon as used in the
French courts, which sometimes differed from that used
in English courts. The addition of the word " direct "
to " application " was unnecessary; but it was the
normal practice in French. So far as the " final and
binding " judgment was concerned, he had used the
expression because at a later stage in his report he ex-
pressed the view that the arbitral judgment should not
be regarded as final and binding. He had intended to
show that the decision on the arbitrability of a dispute
should be immediate and final.
9. Mr. HUDSON observed that the Court was bound
by its Statute, article 61 of which stated that application
might be made for the revision of any judgment, where-
as article 60 stated that " the judgment is final and
without appeal ".
10. Mr. SCELLE said that he did not dream of
modifying article 61, and that he had used the terms of
article 60.
11. Mr. HUDSON accepted the repetition of the
words " final and binding ", but said that the provisions
of article 61 could not be evaded.
12. Mr. SCELLE had alluded to article 29 to show
that the Chamber of Summary Procedure was referred
to; but he was prepared merely to insert a note " see
Articles 29 and 41 of the Statute ". He would repeat
that the text before the Commission was not final. His
intention was to indicate that resort to the Chamber of
Summary Procedure was obligatory. The position was
different with regard to article 41. He was well aware
that the latter applied only when a case was pending;
but the Statute required broadening to some extent. He
thought his proposal was valuable, however bold it
might be. It one of the parties to a dispute intended to
evade arbitration, he could kill the suit by changing its
nature. A State might claim that it was not obliged to
resort to arbitration, but it might also decide to act in
such a way as to eliminate the suit.
13. Mr. YEPES asked the Rapporteur whether it was
his view that the Court could adopt measures of con-
servation before taking a decision on the arbitrability of
a dispute.
14. Mr. SCELLE replied in the affirmative.
15. Mr. YEPES thought that should be brought out
more clearly in the text.

16. Mr. SPIROPOULOS, referring briefly to the ques-
tion of method, asked whether the Commission, which
had before it a text and proposals occupying 6-8 pages,
intended to discuss the latter in a general way or to
make a detailed study. For the time being only the
guiding principles of Mr. Scelle's report should be dis-
cussed. The criticism of words here and there would
only be of limited use. He thought that discussion should
be limited to the guiding principles of the draft. The
main point was whether, in the event of a divergence of
views on arbitrability, the question could be settled by
the arbitral tribunal or should be submitted to the Inter-
national Court of Justice. Mr. Hudson had rightly asked
what was to be understood by arbitrability. The question
was that of the entering of a demurrer or a plea in bar
by one of the parties which claimed that the Court had
no competence.
17. Mr. SCELLE disagreed. At that stage there was
merely an undertaking to resort to arbitration; but the
Court had not been formed, so that it could not be
claimed that it was not competent. The only point in
dispute was whether the parties were bound by a bare
undertaking, that was to say, an abstract undertaking
to submit any one of a more or less wide range of
questions to arbitration. The question of arbitrability
would arise where a dispute occurred and one of the
parties maintained that it was not covered by the under-
taking.
18. Mr. SPIROPOULOS asked whether abstract
undertakings of that type existed.
19. Mr. SCELLE replied that all special or general
treaties of arbitration were abstract undertakings. The
compromissory clause was an abstract undertaking be-
cause, when it was accepted, the circumstances of any
future dispute were unknown.
20. Mr. SPIROPOULOS said he was acquainted with
many treaties of arbitration all of which, when referring
to arbitration, indicated the procedure to be adopted.
He had never seen a convention which did not contain
such an indication, even if only in the form of a refe-
rence to the Hague Convention of 1907. Assuming that
there was a very general provision on arbitration, he
asked who would be competent to settle the question of
arbitrability.
21. Mr. SCELLE replied that no one would be com-
petent if no provision as to competence existed. That
was why the treaties signed by Messrs. Bryan and Knox
had provided for commissions of inquiry, a procedure
stipulated in over a hundred treaties concluded between
the United States of America and other States.
22. Mr. SPIROPOULOS asked whether it was not the
Rapporteur's view that, when a treaty stated that the
parties had agreed to resort to arbitration and to ob-
serve the terms of the Hague Convention, the Court
would be competent to pass judgment.
23. Mr. SCELLE did not think so, since the party
denying the arbitrability of the dispute was opposed to
the setting up of the Court.
24. Mr. SPIROPOULOS observed that that would be
a violation of international law.



70th meeting — 18 July 1950 243

25. Mr. SCELLE asked who would be judge in that
case. Denials of arbitrability were frequent. Disputes of
this kind should be submitted, not to commissions of
inquiry, which were generally composed of politicians,
but to the International Court of Justice.
26. Mr. SPIROPOULOS assumed that the arbitral
tribunal would be set up beforehand.
27. Mr. SCELLE replied that, hi that case, a certain
freedom could be left to the parties, as he had provided
at the end of the second sub-paragraph of paragraph I.
But where no tribunal existed there was no provision
under international law. That point should be clarified.
28. Mr. SPIROPOULOS observed that the judge of
the action was the judge of the exception.
29. Mr. SCELLE said that the adage held good when
the Court had been formed and was then judge with
regard to its own competence.
30. Mr. SPIROPOULOS pointed out that in such a
case Mr. Scelle did not suggest an application to the
International Court of Justice.
31. Mr. Scelle thought that there would be no point
in such an application. In the general structure of the
draft which he had submitted, the first difficulty, as he
had already pointed out, was the question whether the
dispute was arbitrable or not, while the second was the
setting up of the tribunal.
32. Mr. SPIROPOULOS thought that a State which
did not wish to resort to arbitration and refused to set
up the tribunal would be violating international law.
33. Mr. SCELLE disagreed, because the dispute might
not be arbitrable. A State would not be violating inter-
national law if the dispute was not covered by the pro-
visions of its contractual obligations. Whether there
had been a violation of international law would remain
unknown until the judge had made his award.
34. Mr. SPIROPOULOS asked Mr. Scelle whether
he thought there was an obligation to submit to arbi-
tration the dispute concerning the application of the
Peace Treaties by Bulgaria, Hungary and Romania.
35. Mr. SCELLE replied that that was a matter which
should be submitted to the International Court of Jus-
tice for decision.
36. Mr. SPIROPOULOS recalled that the Interna-
tional Court of Justice had declared that it was obliga-
tory to set up the tribunal.1
37. Mr. CÓRDOVA thought that Mr. Scelle had in
mind two cases. In the first there existed a general
compromissory clause, the parties having agreed before-
hand to submit to arbitration any matter outside the
national jurisdiction. Provision was made for the ap-
pointment of arbitrators when an actual case occurred.
When it did occur, one of the parties thought it was
arbitrable and the other disagreed, so that the question
had to be submitted to the International Court of
Justice. If the arbitral tribunal had already been formed
the procedure should be different; but all the text said
was that " in the event of dispute as to whether this

1 International Court of Justice, Report of judgments,
advisory opinions and orders, 1950, p. 65 et seq.

obligation exists, the matter shall be referred to the In-
ternational Court of Justice ". Hence it seemed to be
suggested that all cases would be referred to the Court,
whereas that would occur only where the parties had
not set up an arbitral tribunal.
38. Mr. SCELLE agreed that the sentence was not
sufficiently clear.
39. Mr. el-KHOURY said he wished to begin by con-
gratulating Mr. Scelle on the excellent report which he
had submitted to the Commission. So far as the preli-
minary draft text prepared by Mr. Scelle was concerned,
he noted that the first sub-paragraph of paragraph I re-
ferred to the obligation to have recourse to arbitration,
and that the second sub-paragraph referred to the ques-
tion of arbitrability.
39 a. He thought it advisable to draw the Commis-
sion's attention to the special situation of eastern coun-
tries which applied Islamic law, under which arbitration
procedure could never be obligatory. Even when a
State agreed to accept the rules of arbitration procedure,
it could always refuse to apply them to the settlement
of a specific dispute. Furthermore any arbitral judgment
had to be submitted to a regularly constituted national
court which would pronounce on the validity of the
judgment and give the exequatur. Islamic States could
hardly accept rules at variance with Islamic law which,
as he had already stated, did not accept arbitration as
obligatory and under which only legally constituted
tribunals were competent to settle disputes. He would
therefore prefer arbitration procedure to be optional.
39 b. In the field of international law there was no
court competent to ensure the observance of compulsory
arbitration procedure, and he thought that could be
achieved only my means of agreements whereby States
undertook to apply compulsory arbitration procedure
to any disputes arising between them. Furthermore,
Article 33 of the Charter of the United Nations con-
tained provisions for the pacific settlement of disputes.
Paragraph 2 of the said Article stated that " the Security
Council shall, when it deems necessary, call upon the
parties to settle their dispute " by means of their own
choice. Paragraph 1 of the same Article listed possible
methods of settlement as " negotiation, enquiry, me-
diation, conciliation, arbitration, judicial settlement,
resort to regional agencies or arrangements " or other
pacific means. But these provisions were in no sense
obligatory.
39 c. Nevertheless he thought it advisable, in view of
the progress and development of international law, to
provide some means or other of establishing a com-
pulsory arbitration procedure. In his view the best
means was the conclusion of conventions between States
desirous of establishing such procedure. But in eastern
countries even such conventions were not obligatory
wherever any one of their provisions was contrary to
Islamic law. Such conventions could only be deemed
obligatory by eastern countries where they were in
complete harmony with Islamic law. If the method of
conventions or agreements was not adopted, there was
little likelihood of creating an authority capable of
making arbitration compulsory. In these circumstances



244 30th meeting — 18 July 1950

it was the International Court of Justice which might,
in view of its prestige, be regarded as the competent
authority in the matter.
39 d. Moreover, experience showed the preference of
governments for settling disputes through domestic
tribunals rather than by the arbitration procedure. So
far as arbitrability was concerned, the decision should
be left to the parties to the dispute. In the conventions
to which he had referred, the Contracting States could
specify the cases in which they must have recourse to
arbitration. Failing such clauses they might agree to
apply whatever arbitration procedure might be agreed
between the parties in each case.
39 e. In conclusion he thought that, in accordance
with Article 33 of the Charter of the United Nations,
arbitration procedure should be optional rather than
obligatory. He feared that, if the principle enunciated
by Mr. Scelle were adopted, many countries would
hesitate to accept or to ratify the convention.
40. Mr. KERNO (Assistant Secretary-General)
pointed out that the International Court of Justice was
that very day rendering its judgment on the obligation
of States to appoint representatives to the commissions
of arbitration provided for in the treaties.
41. Mr. YEPES asked Mr. Scelle whether the arbi-
trability of the dispute was, in his view, a de facto or a
de jure question.
42. Mr. SCELLE said he regarded it as a de jure
question. The Court examined the facts and decided
whether the dispute was arbitrable or not. That decision
of the Court's was itself a form of arbitration. Never-
theless, the Court could not deal with the question
without examining the facts, and that examination was
a de jacto question. But when it gave a verdict on the
facts, that was a de jure question. The situation was the
same as for national courts.
43. Mr. ALFARO warmly congratulated Mr. Scelle
on the report he had submitted. He himself supported
the principle that arbitration should be made effective
and obligatory. The report was an excellent initial step
towards that goal. But it might perhaps be wondered
whether the text as drafted by Mr. Scelle should be
adopted as it stood. He was inclined to consider that
it should be modified in certain respects with scrupulous
regard, however, to its guiding principles.
43 a. The compromissory clause was a new departure
in treaties, which frequently contained a provision to
the effect that every dispute arising from the interpre-
tation of clauses in the treaty should be submitted to
arbitration. That was the sort of obligation which the
Commission was then discussing.
43 b. As regards the question of arbitrability, Mr.
Scelle's suggestion that disputes as to the existence of
the obligation to have recourse to arbitration should be
submitted to the International Court of Justice struck
him as excellent. The Court existed and was, in his
view, the only tribunal competent to decide the arbi-
trability of a dispute. That was a de jure question. The
Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 already provided
international arbitration procedure for the pacific settle-
ment of international disputes. The Inter-American

General Treaty of Arbitration, signed at Washington on
5 January 1929, made disputes of the kind referred to
in article 36 of the Statute of the International Court
of Justice subject to arbitration. A later text had ex-
cepted cases coming under the domestic jurisdiction of
States and cases where the dispute concerned three
States one of which was not a party to the Convention
on Arbitration concluded between the two other coun-
tries.2 If a dispute had arisen between States A and B,
and State A accepted arbitration, whereas State B held
that the matter came under its domestic jurisdiction,
the treaties offered no solution, whereas Mr. Scelle's
proposal furnished the possibility of arbitration in such
a case.
43 c. So far as the references to articles 29 and 41 of
the Statute of the International Court of Justice were
concerned, he thought they were justified in the case
of article 29, but with regard to article 41 it was hard
to conceive of special cases in which measures of con-
servation were necessary, except cases of conflicts be-
tween two States in the course of which one of the
States sought to damage the interests of the other after
the arbitration procedure had been instituted. It was
clear that measures of conservation might serve to pre-
vent the interests of one of the States parties to the dis-
pute being injured so long as the arbitral judgment had
not been rendered. Hence, he thought the reference to
article 41 was of value. In brief he considered that,
subject to some re-wording of the text, paragraph I
expressed an essential principle and it had his full sup-
port.
44. Mr. FRANÇOIS also congratulated the Rappor-
teur on his work and said he merely wished to ask him a
question. It had been said that no institution existed at
the present time capable of making resort to arbitration
obligatory. He asked the Rapporteur whether the Inter-
national Court of Justice was not such an authority in
the case of States which had accepted the optional
clause contained in Article 36, paragraph 2, of its Sta-
tute.
45. Mr. SCELLE replied in the affirmative, adding
that he would mention the fact in paragraph I and that
the provision in the said paragraph under which the
International Court of Justice became such an authority
was in no sense a new departure.
46. The CHAIRMAN noted that Mr. Alfaro had very
clearly defined the scope of paragraph I as formulated
by Mr. Scelle and thought that the Commission as a
whole favoured acceptance of this point, excepting
perhaps Mr. el-Khoury, who considered that countries
observing Islamic Law could not accept the compul-
sory arbitration procedure. He thought that the Com-
mission might leave it to Mr. Scelle to pay due regard
in his next report to the opinions expressed by the
members.
47. Mr. SCELLE said that Mr. Hudson had just sug-
gested to him a text which seemed to him superior to
his own and which he accepted. It read as follows:

1 Article 26 of the draft peace code submitted by Mexico
to the Montevideo Conference of 1933.



70th meeting — 18 July 1950 S45

" If the Parties disagree as to the existence of a
dispute or whether an existing dispute it within the
scope of the obligation to have recourse to arbitra-
tion, this question may, in the absence of agreement
between the Parties upon another procedure for
dealing with it, be brought before the Chamber for
Summary Procedure of the International Court of
Justice by a written application, and the judgment
rendered by the Chamber for Summary Procedure
shall be final and without appeal ".

47 a. He pointed out that Mr. Hudson mentioned both
cases, namely the question of disagreement as to the
existence of a dispute and the question whether a dis-
pute was within the scope of the obligation to have
recourse to arbitration, whereas he himself had not
specified these two cases in his draft, and he considered
that they should be mentioned separately. So far as the
reference to article 41 of the Statute of the International
Court of Justice was concerned, he thought that the
only difference of opinion between some members of
the Commission and himself was as to whether the
International Court of Justice could apply the provisions
of the said article 41.
48. Mr. BRIERLY thought that the difficulty could
be solved by omitting the reference to article 41 of the
Statute of the International Court of Justice, while at
the same time inserting in Mr. Scelle's draft convention
some provisions on the lines of the provisions in the
said article 41.
49. Mr. HUDSON pointed out that the Chamber for
Summary Procedure of the International Court of Jus-
tice could always indicate the measures of conservation
provided for in article 41 of the Statute, so that no
reference to them was necessary. Nevertheless such
measures would continue in being until such time as the
Court had passed judgment, but not after that judgment.
In some cases the decision would be immediate and the
provisional measures would be suspended. He thought
that there was no substantial difference between Mr.
Scelle's point of view and his own.
50. Mr. SCELLE replied that he thought there was
a difference, in the sense that the Court might, through
its Chamber for Summary Procedure, decide on mea-
sures of conservation only in cases where such measures
were aimed at preserving the status quo existing at the
tune when the dispute was referred to the Court. It was
only in such cases that these measures could be decreed.
For example, in the case of a dispute between two
riparian States concerning a watercourse, where one of
the States refused to accept arbitration and to attain its
ends—i.e. to evade arbitration—diverted the waters of
the river, the adoption of measures of conservation was
impossible because the status quo had been modified
before the dispute had been referred to the Court and
could not be restored. He wished to avoid such a
situation. The Court should be in a position to take
such measures with a view to facilitating arbitration on
the basis of the maintenance of the status quo which
was the cause of the dispute. He thought that the Court
should adopt measures of conservation, on the under-
standing that, when the maintenance of the status quo

was no longer essential, its decision would cease to
apply.
51. Mr. CÓRDOVA considered the text submitted
by Mr. Hudson excellent, but regretted that it made no
mention of measures of conservation and no reference
to article 41 of the Statute of the International Court
of Justice. He regarded the latter as very important and
said it must not be forgotten that the cases in question
were referred to the Court in pursuance, not of its
Statute, but of the treaty of arbitration.
52. Mr. HUDSON replied that the Court could take
no action outside its Statute. If article 41 of the latter
was mentioned, reference would also have to be made
to all the subsequent articles of the Statute which dealt
with procedural points. Although it did not mention the
various articles, the text which he had proposed entailed
an obligation on States to defer to the Court and to its
Statute as soon as the dispute was referred to the Court.
He added that, despite the obligatory character of the
Articles of the Statute, the decision with regard to the
adoption of measures of conservation took effect only
if it was based on a judgment of the Court and was
notified to the parties.
53. Mr. SCELLE accepted Mr. Hudson's text, while
regretting that it contained no reference to the question
of measures of conservation, although he agreed with
Mr. Hudson that such a reference was unnecessary in-
asmuch as the Court and the parties to the dispute were
bound by the Statute of the Court and could not depart
in any way from its provisions.
54. Mr. CÓRDOVA thought that article 41 meant
that the status quo should be maintained. But as soon
as the Court had decided that the case referred to it was
arbitrable, the measures of conservation would cease to
apply. He thought that the maintenance of the measures
of conservation after judgment had been passed by the
Court could be provided for by means of a convention.
55. Mr. HUDSON repeated that in his view the Court
could not depart from the provisions of article 41 of its
Statute. Mr. Córdova's object might be achieved if the
parties, after referring the question of arbitrability to
the Court, also referred to it, without mentioning article
41 of the Statute, a second question, namely what
measures of conservation the Court could prescribe for
the period up to the time when the arbitral judgment
was rendered.
56. Mr. YEPES was of opinion that the International
Court of Justice had the right to prescribe measures of
conservation as soon as a case was referred to it under
article 40.
57. Mr. SCELLE replied that such measures ceased
to be applicable as soon as the Court had rendered
judgment, but they should be maintained until that mo-
ment and the parties could so decide in the treaty of
arbitration.
58. Mr. CÓRDOVA thought the Rapporteur should
express this view clearly in his report. It was an idea
regarding the continuation of the status quo which
should be explicitly stated in the report.
59. Mr. HUDSON thought that a mere reference to



246 70th meeting — 18 July 1950

article 41 of the Statute of the International Court of
Justice would not cover the cases which Mr. Córdova
had in mind. The most important article of this Statute
from the point of view of such cases was article 53,
which was the one that should be quoted. He had just
prepared a text which might be included in Mr. Scene's
preliminary draft and which would, in his opinion cover
the cases mentioned by Mr. Córdova. It read as fol-
lows:

" The judgment given by the Chamber may also
indicate the steps to be taken by the Parties for the
realization of the arbitration and for the protection
of the interests of the Parties pending a final arbitral
award."

The principle concerning measures of conservation was
a good one, but the circumstances in which such mea-
sures could be prescribed should be defined.
60. The CHAIRMAN proposed that it be left to the
Rapporteur to examine the two texts submitted by Mr.
Hudson and take them into consideration in the con-
clusions of the report which he would submit in the
following year.
61. Mr. SCELLE agreed with this proposal, adding
that he was completely satisfied with both texts.
62. Mr. HUDSON replied that he himself was opposed
to the second text which he had just submitted and that
he had prepared it merely for the Rapporteur's guidance.
63. Mr. KERNO (Assistant Secretary-General)
thought that, so far as the consensus of opinion within
the Commission was concerned, a distinction should be
made between the two texts submitted by Mr. Hudson.
The first of these texts was acceptable to the Com-
mission, whereas the second, which was a suggestion
for the Rapporteur's use, did not, in his view, meet with
the unanimous approval of the Commission.
64. The CHAIRMAN thought that the whole ques-
tion should be left to Mr. Scelle.

Paragraph II of the proposed draft text
65. Mr. SCELLE explained that paragraph II dealt
with the setting up of the arbitral tribunal. After reading
the first sub-paragraph, he said that it was not a pro-
posed article, but was intended to form a link between
paragraphs I and II and was therefore merely a transi-
tional provision.
66. Mr. HUDSON requested Mr. Scelle to revise the
wording of his text, with particular reference to the ex-
pressions " cannot be settled " and " a reasonable
time ", the sense of which should perhaps be defined.
He again noted that Mr. Scelle referred to the obligation
of States to appoint an arbitrator or to set up an arbitral
tribunal. He wondered whether the appointment of an
arbitrator could be the equivalent of the setting up of
an arbitral tribunal.
67. Mr. SCELLE replied that he regarded the appoint-
ment of an arbitrator and the setting up of an arbitral
tribunal as identical. A single arbitrator constituted a
court competent to undertake arbitration. The meaning
of this paragraph in his report was that once the arbi-
trability of a dispute was established, the parties should

be left free to nominate an arbitrator or an arbitral
tribunal in accordance with their undertaking to accept
arbitration. The " reasonable time " allowed for the
possibility of the parties amicably settling the dispute
without recourse to arbitration. After reading the second
sub-paragraph of paragraph II of his report, he said
the best method in that connexion was to follow the
procedure prescribed in the General Act of Arbitration,
as revised by the General Assembly.
68. Mr. HUDSON agreed with the idea formulated in
the second sub-paragraph, but said he was opposed to
the reference to articles 22 and 23 of the General Act
of Arbitration, adding that the said articles had not
been amended when the Act was revised.3
69. Mr. SCELLE stated that the second sub-paragraph
was not a finished text, but merely a draft designed to
convey his idea, which the Commission might amend
if it so desired.
70. Mr. CÓRDOVA asked whether a time limit should
not be set for the appointment of an arbitrator or the
setting up of an arbitral tribunal by the parties. If that
was not done there was a danger that one or other of
the parties might procrastinate.
71. Mr. SCELLE replied that he had thought of setting
a time limit, but realized that it would be a rather deli-
cate matter. The term " reasonable time " was well
established, having been used in a large number of
treaties. He could not see on what basis a definite time
limit could be fixed at that stage.
72. Mr. CÓRDOVA pointed out that the General Act
of Arbitration fixed a time limit of three months, which
should be adopted in the texts prepared by Mr. Scelle.
73. The CHAIRMAN requested Mr. Scelle to con-
sider the suggestion just made by Mr. Córdova.
74. The CHAIRMAN thought the Commission was
agreed on the principle expressed in this sub-paragraph,
and invited comments on the third sub-paragraph of
paragraph II of the preliminary draft text prepared by
Mr. Scelle.
75. Mr. HUDSON asked Mr. Scelle why he had put
in the last sentence of the third sub-paragraph, namely
" the tribunal so constituted shall hear the case and its
judgment shall be binding ".
76. Mr. SCELLE agreed that it was superfluous and
could be omitted.
77. Mr. SCELLE, after reading out the fourth and
fifth sub-paragraphs of paragraph II of his preliminary
draft text, said that the latter were merely designed to
indicate the present state of custom. He thought that
the parties should be allowed a certain freedom in the
choice of the personalities or judicial institutions they
wished to appoint as arbitrators. At the present time
a movement was beginning in favour of jurisdictional
arbitration, as opposed to diplomatic arbitration, which
had long been the rule. He should perhaps add that the
appointment of the Head of a State as arbitrator seemed
inadvisable to him, since in most cases he would lack
legal or technical qualifications.

General Assembly Resolution 268 (III).



71st meeting — 19 July 1950 247

78. Mr. HUDSON said he had difficulty in following
Mr. Scelle's reasoning. Many examples existed of suc-
cessful arbitration by Heads of States. In every case the
arbitral award had been drawn up by legal experts, and
not by the Head of the State, who had merely signed it.
79. Mr. SCELLE replied that in such cases the legal
experts concerned were nearly always diplomats as
well.
80. Mr. SP1ROPOULOS thought that this sub-para-
graph went into too much detail with regard to the
persons entitled to be appointed as arbitrators. It was
self-evident that the persons appointed as arbitrators
would always be properly qualified. It was preferable
to say nothing on this point.
81. Mr. CÓRDOVA said that Mr. Scelle's text in no
way debarred the Head of a State from being appointed
as arbitrator, but merely said that arbitrators should be
selected in the light of experience, which was an excel-
lent principle. Nevertheless, he shared Mr. Scelle's view
with regard to the Heads of States. The latter would
always be inclined to base their decisions on political
considerations, and it was essential to avoid arbitral
judgments of that type.
82. Mr. el-KHOURY observed that in the previous
year certain Eastern countries had appointed two kings
to arbitrate and they had rendered a fair and true judg-
ment which, when submitted to the tribunals in the
contending countries, had been accepted by them and
implemented by the parties. He saw no need to lay
down such conditions regarding the appointment of
arbitrators, and was even inclined to think that jurists
regarded disputes as more complicated than they really
were.
83. The CHAIRMAN thought that the Rapporteur
had had no intention of restricting the number of per-
sons eligible for appointment as arbitrators.
84. Mr. SCELLE confirmed this view and said that
here again he was not proposing the text of an article,
but had merely expressed an idea, so that the Com-
mission could amend his text in accordance with its
preference for a particular procedure. He personally
thought that the arbitration provided for should be juris-
dictional rather than diplomatic or political. He had
thought so for a long time, and considered that arbi-
tration procedure should be developed along those lines.
An arbitral judgment which was a model of its kind was
that rendered by Professor Huber in the case of Las
Palmas Island. It was a true example of jurisdictional
arbitration, and that way lay progress.
85. Mr. HUDSON agreed with Mr. Scelle that it was
advisable to restrict the number of arbitrators. It was
obvious that in very important cases five arbitrators
might be of great value, but in most cases a smaller
number seemed preferable. Some consideration should
also be given to the financial aspect of the problem, i.e.
to the arbitrators' fees, which were usually very high.
Some States would hesitate to have recourse to arbi-
tration if it cost them too much. That material aspect
of the problem occurred to him because he would not
like to see arbitration limited to important international

disputes, but would prefer it to form the basis for the
settlement of disputes even of lesser importance.
86. Mr. ALFARO pointed out that the term " direct
interest " was used in the fifth sub-paragraph. He
thought that the reference should be not only to direct
interest, but also to indirect interest, and he therefore
proposed the addition of the word " indirect ".
87. Mr. SCELLE thought it would be simpler to delete
the word " direct " leaving the word " interest " un-
qualified.
88. Mr. HUDSON said he would prefer the term
" special interest ".
89. Mr. KERNO (Assistant Secretary-General) re-
called that the Economic and Social Council had re-
ferred to the Commission a proposal concerning the
question of the nationality of married women, and that
the General Assembly had referred to the Commission
the question of territorial waters. He requested the Com-
mission to take up these questions with a view to ad-
vising the Economic and Social Council and the General
Assembly thereon.
90. The CHAIRMAN said that the two questions
would be placed on the agenda of the Commission's
next meeting.

The meeting rose at 12.55 p.m.

71st MEETING
Wednesday, 19 July 1950, at 10 a.m.

CONTENTS Page
Nationality of married women (Letter from the Secre-

tary-General) (A/CN.4/33) . . . . . . . . . 2 4 7
Regime of territorial waters . . . . . . . . . . 255
Per diem allowances of members of the commission . . 255

Chairman: Mr. Georges SCELLE.
Rapporteur: Mr. Ricardo J. ALFARO.

Present:
Members: Mr. Gilberto AMADO, Mr. James L.

BRIERLY, Mr. Roberto CÓRDOVA, Mr. J. P. A. FRANÇOIS,
Mr. Shuhsi Hsu, Mr. Manley O. HUDSON, Mr. Paris el-
KHOURY, Mr. A. E. F. SANDSTRÔM, Mr. Jean SPIRO-
POULOS, Mr. Jesús María YEPES.

Secretariat: Mr. Ivan KERNO (Assistant Secretary-
General in charge of the Legal Department); Mr. Yuen-
li LIANG (Director of the Division for the Development
and Codification of International Law, and Secretary
to the Commission).

Nationality of married women (Letter from the
Secretary-General) (A/CN.4/33)

1. The CHAIRMAN read document A/CN.4/33, in


